1988

# Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co. v. Garfield County : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF CASE

The Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Art. VIII, § 3 of the Utah Constitution, Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2, and Rule 4, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

This is an appeal by Plaintiff, Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co. ("Mountain States"), from a Decision and Summary Judgment upholding the constitutionality of Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15, entered October 14, 1988, in favor of the Garfield County defendants by the Sixth Judicial District Court in and for Garfield County.<sup>1</sup> The Complaint also listed various state officials as defendants.<sup>2</sup> The State of Utah, however, declined to defend below. See page 9, infra.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15 constitutes a legislatively imposed tax for a local purpose or a mandatory horizontal revenue sharing measure in violation of Article XIII § 5 of the Utah Constitution.

2. Whether the trial court erred in entering summary judgment on Mountain States' constitutional claims prior to the conclusion of discovery concerning the extent to which Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15 actually funds local purposes, intrudes on local

- 
1. The Garfield County defendants include Garfield County; the Garfield County Board of County Commissioners, Sherrel Ott, Thomas Hatch and Louise Liston; Judy Henrie, Garfield County Treasurer; and Tom Simkins, Garfield County Assessor. The county defendants were represented by counsel listed on the cover of this brief.
  2. The state defendants included the Utah State Tax Commission, R.H. "Hall" Hansen, Roger O. Tew, G. Blaine Davis and Joe B. Pacheco; Tom L. Allen, Utah State Auditor; and Edward T. Alter, Utah State Treasurer.

government, results in mandatory revenue sharing, imposes unfair and disproportionate burdens on certain classes of taxpayers and imposes a local levy that bears no reasonable relationship to the costs of assessing and collecting property taxes.

3. Whether Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15 violates due process by permitting a county to tax property located outside its boundaries having no substantial nexus to the county.

#### CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED

Article XIII, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution provides:

The Legislature shall not impose taxes for the purpose of any county, city, town or other municipal corporation, but may, by law, vest in the corporate authorities thereof, respectively, the power to assess and collect taxes for all purposes of such corporation.

Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.

Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution provides:

Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.

Article I, Section 24 of the Utah Constitution provides:

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in pertinent part:

No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Senate Bill 151, 1986 Utah Laws Ch. 109 § 1, codified at Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15, is reproduced as Appendix A to this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Statement of Facts. In 1986, the Utah State Legislature adopted and the Governor signed into law Senate Bill No. 151, titled "An Act Relating to Counties; Providing for the Collection, Assessment, and Distribution Costs Charged by the County, and Providing an Effective Date." The Act, which imposed a state-wide levy upon all real property to recoup local property tax collection costs, dramatically altered the historic, county-controlled levy of the property tax.

Prior to the adoption of the Act, each county funded its own costs incurred in the imposition and collection of ad valorem property taxes. Each county included the projected amount of such costs in its annual budget and set its tax rate at a level sufficient to generate revenues to cover all budgeted county costs, including assessment and collection costs. The state neither participated in the process of establishing a budget for county assessment and collection costs nor participated in the levying of taxes to fund these costs; these responsibilities were left totally to the counties. With the passage of the Act, the state assumed control of previously locally performed functions.

Under the Act, the Board of County Commissioners in each county determines the county's cost of "assessment, collection, and distribution of property taxes and related appraisal



programs." Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15(1). That figure, which constitutes the county's tax collection budget, is submitted to the State Auditor for review. Id. The State Auditor, who is required to establish "categories of allowable costs" for tax collection budgets throughout the state, then reviews each county budget as it is submitted and certifies that it complies "with approved categories" of costs. Id. § 17-19-15(2).<sup>3</sup>

Following certification and review by the State Auditor, all approved county budgets are "transmitted to the State Tax Commission for determination of a mandatory state-wide tax rate sufficient to meet those expenditures." Id. § 17-19-15(3). The tax rate established by the Tax Commission is designed to recoup local tax collection costs. The Act expressly provides that the state-wide tax rate will be included upon tax notices as "a separately listed and identified local levy." Id. (emphasis added). The counties have no discretion to alter or reject the levy certified to them by the State Tax Commission. Under the Act, the counties are left solely with the ministerial task of collecting the certified levy.

Any revenue collected by the counties under the local levy in excess of their approved collection and assessment budgets does not remain with local taxing authorities. Rather, the money is "transmitted to the State Treasurer" without the

---

3. The statutory scheme contemplates that the State Auditor has the authority to approve or disapprove local tax collection budgets. Utah Code Ann. § 17-19-15(2). Prior to the passage of the Act, there was no similar state control of local tax collection budgets.

counties' consent. Id. § 17-19-15(6). Funds received by the State Treasurer are redistributed to counties having tax collection budget shortfalls "in accordance with the certified [tax collection] budgets." Id.

The Act promotes inefficient and costly tax collection procedures. The collection scheme established by the statute has encouraged local taxing authorities to increase their tax collection budgets in order to receive maximum benefits from the anomalous state-wide -- but nevertheless "local" -- levy. Every conceivable expense that can be denominated a "collection cost" has been so labelled in order to obtain the largest possible slice of the Section 17-19-15 pie. Tax assessment and collection costs in Grand County, for example, have increased nearly three fold -- from \$58,703 in 1985 to \$141,305 in 1987. Record at 40. Assessment and collection costs have increased nearly five fold in Davis County -- from \$329,695 in 1985 to \$1,540,923 in 1987. Id. The Act not only encourages inefficient tax collection procedures, it also erodes the revenue base of counties with efficient tax collection procedures (or low collection costs) by forcing them to subsidize more costly jurisdictions. In 1987, for example, eight counties were required to turn over approximately \$2,865,590 in revenue for redistribution to the other 21 counties of the state. Compare Record at 19, 21.

2. Proceedings Below. Pursuant to the Act, Garfield County included a separate local levy of \$2,692.21 on Mountain State's 1987 property tax notice. Record at 9, 45. Mountain

States paid the \$2,692.21 Local Levy to Garfield County under protest. Record at 10, 45. On May 19, 1988, Mountain States commenced this action by filing a Complaint in the Sixth Judicial District Court in and for Garfield County, State of Utah. Record at 1-40. This action is only one of 30 substantially identical actions filed by Mountain States and other taxpayers throughout the state.

Mountain States' Complaint For Declaratory Relief and Recovery of Taxes Paid Under Protest contains eight claims for relief. Record at 1-40. The first three claims assert that the Act is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to Mountain States because it violates Art. XIII, § 5 of the Utah Constitution. Record at 1-12. Mountain States alleges that the Act is void under Art. XIII, § 5 because it (1) "constitutes a tax imposed by the legislature 'for the purpose of [a] county,' in direct contravention of the constitutional proscription" (Record at 12, ¶ 43, quoting Utah Const. Art. XIII, § 5), (2) "transgresses the right to local self government secured by the constitutional provision" (Record at 11, ¶ 40), and (3) "mandates revenue sharing without the consent of affected counties" (Record at 12, ¶ 43).

The remaining counts in the Complaint set forth alternative grounds for invalidating the Act as applied to Mountain States. The fourth and fifth claims for relief assert that the Act violates the due process and equal protection provisions of the state and federal constitutions because the

assessment and collection fee imposed by the statute "bears no reasonable relationship" to the costs of assessing and collecting the plaintiff's property taxes. Record at 13 ¶¶ 48, 52; Utah Const. Art. I, §§ 7, 24; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The sixth claim asserts that the Act transgresses the equal protection guarantees of the state and federal constitutions because it "force[s] taxpayers in counties with low local tax collection costs to subsidize the local costs of less efficient counties." Record at 15 ¶ 59; Utah Const. Art. I, § 24; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The seventh claim asserts that the Act constitutes a taking in violation of state and federal constitutional provisions because the levy it imposes "bear[s] no reasonable relationship to the administrative costs incurred in taxing" Mountain States' property. Record at 15 ¶ 61; Utah Const. Art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The final claim seeks recovery of taxes paid under protest. Record at 15, ¶ 63.

On July 13, 1988, the county defendants answered the Complaint and filed a motion for summary judgment before Mountain States could conduct any discovery regarding the actual operation of the Act. Record at 41-100. On August 4, 1988, Mountain States served its first interrogatories and requests for admissions and production of documents on the Garfield County defendants. Record at 111-112. The discovery requests sought information relevant to both the facial and as-applied challenges set forth in Mountain States' Complaint, including the items actually listed on the county's 1987 assessment and collection

budget, the measures actually undertaken and expenses actually incurred in connection with property tax assessment and collection in 1987, and the specific measures undertaken and expenses incurred with respect to the assessment and collection of Mountain States' property taxes. Mountain States opposed the county's motion for summary judgment, filed its own cross-motion for summary judgment on its facial challenges to the Act, and requested the trial court to postpone ruling on the county's motion until completion of the requested discovery. Record at 118-179; Rule 56(f), Utah R. Civ. P.

The State of Utah did not file any pleading in support of the county defendants. Instead, by a letter dated August 26, 1988, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, the state informed the trial court that it considered the counties to be the real parties-in-interest and that the State of Utah would not actively participate in the lawsuit. The letter, however, transmitted an Attorney General's opinion dated February 11, 1988, which found that the Act was unconstitutional, to assist the court in its consideration of the case.<sup>4</sup>

On September 1, 1988, after hearing oral arguments on Garfield County's motion for summary judgment and Mountain

---

4. On February 11, 1988, Attorney General David L. Wilkinson issued a formal opinion declaring the Act unconstitutional. Formal Opinion No. 88-01, Feb. 11, 1988 (attached as Exhibit B to this brief). In that opinion, the Attorney General concluded that Section 17-19-15 violates Article XIII, Section 5 of the Utah Constitution because it imposes a tax upon counties "for their own use," subjects county tax collection budgets to control by the State Auditor, and requires counties to share revenues "without their consent." Exhibit B at 11.

States' cross-motion for partial summary judgment, the trial court directed counsel for the respective parties to prepare a proposed memorandum decision. Record at 233. On or about October 6, 1988, Mountain States and the Garfield County defendants each submitted a proposed memorandum decision to the Court.

3. Decision of the Court. On October 14, 1988, Judge Tibbs entered the proposed Decision and Summary Judgment submitted by counsel for the Garfield County defendants, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C. In its decision, the court briefly perused the operation of the Act, and found that Garfield County had complied with all applicable provisions. Record at 240-241. It also found that the "funding mechanism [established by the Act] address[es] a matter of state-wide concern," i.e., the "effective, efficient collection of ad valorem property tax revenues." Record at 242, ¶ 11.

In its conclusions of law, the court first addressed Mountain State's Article XIII, § 5 challenge.<sup>5</sup> The court repeated its previous finding that equalized and efficient

---

5. Prior to conducting its Art. XIII, § 5 analysis, the court cited and analyzed several constitutional and statutory provisions without specifying how those provisions related to its constitutional analysis in this case. The court cited Art. XIII, § 11 of the Utah Constitution and found that the provision gives the State Tax Commission power to regulate and control county boards of equalization and elected county officials with respect to taxation matters. Record at 243, ¶ 2. The Court also found that Art. XIII, § 3 of the Utah Constitution requires uniform valuation within the counties and requires the legislature to provide by law a just valuation. Record at 243, ¶ 3. The court also noted that Utah Code Ann. Title 59 Chapter 2 provides a procedural framework for the property tax assessment and collection program. Record at 243, ¶ 4.

property tax assessment and collection was a state-wide purpose. Record at 243-244, ¶¶ 6-8. The court, however, did not state how the Act furthers this purpose. Id. The court then concluded that, because the Act furthers a state-wide public purpose, it does not violate Article XIII, § 5. Record at 244, ¶ 8. The decision is silent with respect to Mountain States' as-applied Article XIII, § 5 challenge.

The Court addressed the revenue sharing aspects of Mountain States' Article XIII, § 5 challenge by concluding summarily that the revenue sharing aspects of the Act are valid under this Court's holdings in Tribe v. Salt Lake City Corp., 540 P.2d 499 (Utah 1975); and Salt Lake County v. Murray City Redevelopment, 598 P.2d 1339 (Utah 1979). The Court further held that Garfield County had consented to the revenue sharing aspects of the Act by adopting its assessment and collection budget. Record at 244-45, ¶¶ 10, 12.

With respect to Mountain States' fourth through eighth claims for relief, which raise various due process and equal protection arguments, the court concluded without discussion that, because the local levy imposed by the Act is a "tax" and not a "fee," each of those causes of action "are inappropriate and accordingly must be dismissed." Record at 245-46, ¶ 13. The opinion ends with a catch-all finding that the Act "is constitutional in all respects." Record at 246, ¶ 14. The Court ordered that Mountain States' Complaint be dismissed in its entirety with prejudice. Id.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Article XIII, § 5 proscribes legislative taxation for county purposes to prevent the state from destroying the autonomy of local governments. By requiring counties to participate in the state-wide sharing of local governmental costs, the Act imposes a tax. That tax, moreover, is imposed for a county purpose. This Court's decisions plainly establish that the payment of salaries of county employees is a local purpose that cannot be infringed on by the legislature. City of West Jordan v. Utah State Retirement Board, 98 Utah Adv. Rep. 37, 40 (Dec. 30, 1988); Smith v. Carbon County, 90 Utah 560, 63 P.2d 259 (1936); State v. Stanford, 24 Utah 148, 66 P. 1061 (1901). The Act also violates Article XIII, § 5 because it mandates horizontal revenue sharing without the consent of affected counties. The trial court's finding that the Act furthers a "state" purpose, moreover, does not avoid these constitutional defects. Indeed, if accepted, the trial court's reasoning renders Article XIII, § 5 a dead letter.

If the Act is not facially invalid, Mountain States' Complaint sets forth various constitutional challenges which turn upon unresolved factual issues. Mountain States' Article XIII, § 5, due process, equal protection and takings claims turn upon such factual questions as whether the local levy actually funds local purposes, intrudes on the operation of county governments, results in revenue sharing; or imposes a disproportionate and unfair burden on certain taxpayers. The summary judgment entered



below improperly prevented Mountain States from developing the necessary evidence on these genuine issues of material fact. At a minimum, therefore, the lower court must be reversed and this matter remanded for further proceedings.

Finally, the Act on its face permits the taxation of persons or entities that have no substantial nexus with the counties to which the local levy is ultimately paid. Indeed, the Act effectively allows counties to collect a levy on property outside their boundaries. If this fact alone does not invalidate the Act under the state and federal due process clauses, Mountain States is at least entitled to an opportunity to show that the Act actually results in improper extra-territorial taxation.

#### ARGUMENT

Summary judgment may be granted only where the record evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom show that (1) "there is no genuine issue of material fact" and (2) the movant is "entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), Utah R. Civ P.; Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982); Judkins v. Toone, 27 Utah 2d 17, 492 P.2d 980 (1972); Frederick May & Co. v. Dunn, 13 Utah 2d 40, 368 P.2d 266 (1962). Neither element is satisfied here. If the facial validity of the Act under Article XIII, § 5 of the Utah Constitution is indeed ripe for summary disposition, Mountain States -- not the county defendants -- is "entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), Utah R. Civ P. Moreover, the remaining allegations of the Complaint, which set forth substantial claims under the due

process, equal protection and property clauses of the state and federal constitutions, virtually bristle with unresolved issues of material fact. The judgment below, therefore, must be reversed.

I. THE ACT VIOLATES ARTICLE XIII SECTION 5 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION

Genuine issues of material fact preclude summary judgment on many of Mountain States' constitutional claims. Section IIB, below. To the extent that the facial validity of the Act is ripe for summary disposition, however, Mountain States (not the county defendants) is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the Act plainly violates the local self-government guarantees embodied in the Utah Constitution.

Article XIII, § 5 of the Utah Constitution invests local governments with "the power to assess and collect taxes for all purposes" of those governments, and specifically enjoins the state legislature from "impos[ing] taxes for the purpose of any county, city, town or other municipal corporation . . . ." This language, incorporated in the original 1896 Constitution, has remained unchanged to the present day. The provision is designed to decentralize government and maintain political sensitivity by insuring that the levy, collection and expenditure of local governmental funds is subject to effective oversight and control by the local taxpayer. As this Court noted in The Best Foods, Inc. v. Christensen, 75 Utah 392, 285 P. 1001, 1003 (1930):

There can be no doubt but that the framers of our state Constitution recognized the rights of the people of Utah to local self-government. It was to preserve local self-government free from needless

legislative interference that the power to levy taxes for local purposes was by the state Constitution vested exclusively in the proper authority of counties, cities, towns, and other municipal corporations. The power to collect and control the revenues of a municipality is of the very essence of local self-government.

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