1988

Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co. v. Garfield County : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Even assuming arguendo that the funding mechanism prescribed by the Act constitutes revenue sharing between the counties, plaintiff's challenge to the Act on that basis must fail for several reasons. First, if the Act only allows voluntary revenue sharing, the aggrieved parties are not the plaintiffs but those counties which object to the revenue sharing. Plaintiff lacks standing to assert the claims on behalf of the counties and accordingly its claim should be dismissed. Second, the clear factual evidence as set out in the Affidavit of Mr. Gardner and the joint statement of the Utah Association of Counties, Utah League of Cities and Towns and Utah School Boards Association, clearly establish that the Act was supported by the counties at the time of its passage. R. 94-98. Subsequently the Utah Association of Counties, by resolution of all its membership, or the executive committee authorized to speak for it, has, on two separate occasions specifically endorsed S.B. 151 including the funding mechanism established thereunder. Finally, the Utah Association of County Commissioners and County

Councils representing the governing bodies of all 29 counties of the State has unanimously endorsed the Act with its revenue sharing provisions and opposed any attempt to amend or repeal it. To assert that the revenue sharing portions of the Act are contrary to the wishes of the counties ignores reality. Third, assuming further that the financing mechanism does constitute involuntary revenue sharing, Utah Const. Art. XIII §5, is silent on the question of whether the State may re-distribute revenue when a statewide purpose is involved. The amendment of Utah Const. Art. XIII §5 was to allow voluntary horizontal revenue sharing (Appellant's Brief p. 32). In support Appellant cites the "Impartial Analysis" prepared for the 1982 Voter Information Pamphlet. The Amendment and the Analysis speak for themselves. The Amendment allows local governments to voluntarily share their revenues. It is silent as to whether the legislature is prohibited from diverting or reallocating revenues between local subdivisions. The real question surrounding the 1983 amendment is whether anywhere in that amendment exists a prohibition against the Legislature imposing a tax or requiring revenue sharing for a state purpose. Respondents submit there is not. The amendment is silent on that issue and Appellant should not be allowed to create from whole cloth a non-existent Constitutional prohibition. Barring such a constitutional prohibition against legislative action, Utah Const. Art. VI §1 clearly vests in the Legislature of the State of Utah all authority to legislate on matters of statewide concern. Kimball v. City of Grantsville, et al., 57 P.1, 5 (Utah 1899); State ex rel.

Nicholes v. Cherry, Judge, 60 P. 1103 (Utah 1900); Lehi City v. Meiling, 48 P.2d 530, 534, 535 (Utah 1935).

In summary, Appellant's Utah Const. Art. XIII, §5 challenge to the Act as "involuntary revenue sharing" must fail. Appellant lacks standing to challenge a provision that may only be challenged by the affected governmental entities to wit, the counties and, second, the record adequately supports that the revenue sharing of the Act is fully supported and endorsed by all 29 counties.

Simply stated, Utah Const. Art. XIII §5 does not prohibit the diversion of local revenues to effect a statewide purpose (Tribe and Salt Lake County, supra.). Unless prohibited by the Constitution, the power to legislate on matters of State concern is vested in the Legislature. Utah Const. Art. VI §1. The 1983 amendment to Utah Const. Art. XIII §5, allowing voluntary revenue sharing between local governments is silent and does not specifically prohibit the State from creating funding mechanisms, even including horizontal revenue sharing, when a statewide purpose is involved. Accordingly, Utah Code Ann. §17-19-15, is a legitimate exercise of the reserved power of the Legislature found in Utah Const. Art. VI §1 and is not prohibited by Utah Const. Art. XIII §5.

POINT IV

APPELLANT'S "DUE PROCESS", "EQUAL PROTECTION" AND "TAKING" CLAIMS ARE DEFECTIVE AS A MATTER OF LAW AND RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Appellant asserts generally that its various constitutional claims require extensive factual development before they may be adjudicated. This contention rests upon the Appellant's position that the taxes it pays must bear a reasonable relationship to either the burden it imposes on the local tax system or the benefit it receives from that system. As addressed in the Appellant's original complaint below, most of the bases for these constitutional claims arise in the Appellant's contentions that the tax is a fee thus necessitating a reasonable relationship between the cost of the governmental service and the amount of the fee. (R-1-17.) The Appellant, however, at the time it filed its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and Supporting Memorandum, conceded that the funding scheme set up by the Act constituted a tax. (R-130 footnote 4.) Notwithstanding that concession, the Appellant continues to assert that all the hallmarks of a fee must now apply to the tax. In support of its contention that extensive factual development must occur, the Appellant cited the chronology of this Court's decisions relating to the attributes of a fee and the factual analysis which must occur to determine the reasonableness of a fee (see Home Builders Assoc. of Greater Salt Lake v. Provo City, 28 U.2d 402, 53 P.2d 451 (1972); Call v. City of West Jordan, 614 P.2d 1257 (Utah, 1980); Banbury Development Corp. v. South Jordan City, 631 P.2d 899 (Utah, 1981); Lafferty v. Payson City, 642 P.2d 376 (Utah, 1982); Patterson v. Alpine City, 663 P.2d 95 (Utah, 1983)). Respondents concede that all of the above cases are relevant to the question of whether a fee is reasonable. They do not, however, have any relevance to the issue of what must

occur with respect to a tax. Fees are regulatory in nature. The amount collected to cover the cost of regulation must be reasonably related to the service provided pursuant to that regulation.

Traits common to fees may be succinctly noted as follows:

(1) Fees are charged in exchange for a service that benefits the person charged as opposed to a benefit to the public at large.

(2) Fees are paid by choice by the person deciding to utilize government services.

(3) Fees are collected to compensate the governmental activity for the service provided.

Southview Cooperative Housing Corp. v. Rent Contro. Board of Cambridge, 396 Mass. 395, 486 N.E.2d 700, 704-705 (Mass., 1985).

On the other hand, taxes are imposed to fund the general purpose of government. Statutes duly enacted by the Legislature primarily to raise revenue may appear at first glance to bear some of the hallmarks of a fee. As the Court noted several years ago, if there is no attempt to regulate a business or activity or protect a public interest, the measure is a tax. Furthermore the Legislature may impose whatever tax it deems necessary and may require local governmental entities to assess and collect the tax so long as the Legislature is not specifically prohibited from so doing. The Best Foods, Inc. v. Christensen, 285 P.1001, 1003-1004 (Utah, 1930). Admittedly the Legislature may choose to denominate a measure as either a fee

or a tax and that denomination may be erroneous but, however, when the Legislature chooses a particular term knowing that distinctions exist, deference should be accorded and a presumption established. Smith v. Carbon County, 90 U. 560, 63 P.2d 259 (1936). Mere characterization is not controlling but the burden to state otherwise than the choice selected by the Legislature is upon the one seeking to challenge the statute. See Weber Basin Home Builders Assoc. v. Roy City, 26 U.2d 215, 487 P.2d 866 (1971). In the present case the Legislature has denominated the funding mechanism as a tax. It is a uniform, equalized, statewide tax rate applied to all taxable property. The fact that it is imposed to fund a particular governmental service does not change the nature of the imposition to a regulatory fee. Many single purpose tax levies exist. (See generally, Utah Code Ann. §59-2-911 (1953, as amended)). These restricted purpose taxes do not, by virtue of the restriction, become fees or special assessments as the term is commonly understood.

Different due process and equal protection standards apply. The funding mechanism imposed by the Act, is a tax upon all taxable property in the State of Utah. To the extent that the Appellant does not own property in any county, it is not subjected to property taxation in that county. In that regard, its treatment is identical to that afforded all other taxpayers. The most it can legitimately claim is that in the event taxes paid by it are transmitted to counties in which it doesn't own property, there is indirect taxation. It contends that such indirect taxation violates its due process and equal protection

guarantees. If such were the case, there could be no rational basis for sustaining taxes such as the Uniform School Fund Levy or the Local Option Sales and Use Tax (a portion of which is distributed on a per capita basis regardless of the jurisdiction in which the taxpayer paid the tax.) The two examples cited above are denominated by statute as local levies or local taxes, and have not been successfully challenged with respect to their imposition or collection. The funding mechanism set out in §17-19-15 rests upon an equally strong constitutional footing.

Appellant's argument that it is denied the requisite political voice with respect to taxation matters ignores the requirements which have been established by the Utah Supreme Court. See generally Lehi v. Meiling, 48 P.2d, 530, 536 (Utah, 1935.) Its interest in avoiding excessive expenditures is identical to and represented by each and every taxpayer in the State. Appellant has the right to appear at budget hearings in any county, it may protest the valuation placed upon its properties either by appeals to the State Tax Commission or local boards of equalization, and finally, it may petition the Legislature for a change in the law. Significantly, such a change was sought in the 1988 general session and rejected by a decisive vote of that body. Additionally, Appellant did not appear at the 1987 or 1988 budget hearings of the Garfield County Commission. See Affidavit of Hazel Houston. (R-216-219.)

Appellant further contends that its due process rights are violated because it is centrally assessed by the State Tax Commission, and the tax amount levied against it is not substantially equivalent to the burden it imposes or the benefit it

receives. In support of that position, it cites Commonwealth Edison Company v. Montana, 453 US 609 (1981). What Appellant fails to cite from Commonwealth Edison, supra, is the Court's language at page 627 thereof. In response to a similar argument raised by Commonwealth Edison, the Court stated:

"Appellants urge, however, that the fourth prong of the Complete Auto Transit test must be construed as requiring a factual inquiry into the relationship between the revenues generated by a tax and the costs incurred on account of the taxed activity, in order to provide a mechanism for judicial disapproval under the Commerce Clause of state taxes that are excessive. This assertion reveals that appellants labor under a misconception about a court's role in cases such as this. The simple fact is that the appropriate level or rate of taxation is essentially a matter for legislative, and not judicial, resolution."

The Court then went on to note, Id. 627:

"In any event, the linchpin of Appellants' contention is the incorrect assumption that the amount of state taxes that may be levied on an activity connected to Interstate Commerce is limited by the costs incurred by the state on account of that activity. Only then does it make sense to advocate judicial examination of the relationship between taxes paid and benefits provided. But, as we have previously noted, see supra, at 623-624, interstate commerce may be required to contribute to the costs of providing all governmental services, including those services from which it arguably receives no direct "benefit."

This position has been recently reaffirmed in Cotton Petroleum v. New Mexico, S.Ct. 1989 WL 38235 (U.S.) issued April 25, 1989.

There is no constitutional requirement that the benefits received from taxing authority by an ordinary commercial taxpayer--or by those living in the community where the taxpayer is located--must equal the amount of its tax obligations. See Keystone Bituminous Coal Assn. v. DeBenedictis, 480 U.S. 470, 491, n.21 (1987). As we recently explained:

"[T]here is no requirement under the Due Process Clause that the amount of general revenue taxes collected from a particular activity must be

reasonably related to the value of the services provided to the activity. Instead, our consistent rule has been:

"Nothing is more familiar in taxation than the imposition of a tax upon a class or upon individuals who enjoy no direct benefit from its expenditure, and who are not responsible for the condition to be remedied.

"A tax is not an assessment of benefits. It is, as we have said, a means of distributing the burden of the cost of government. The only benefit to which the taxpayer is constitutionally entitled is that derived from his enjoyment of the privileges of living in an organized society, established and safeguarded by the devotion of taxes to public purposes. Any other view would preclude the levying of taxes except as they are used to compensate for the burden on those who pay them, and would involve abandonment of the most fundamental principle of government--that it exists primarily to provide for the common good. *Carmichael v. Southern Coal & Coke Co.*, 301 U.S. 495, 521-523 (1937) (citations and footnote omitted.)

While Appellant does raise equal protection challenges not raised by the Appellants in Commonwealth, Appellant's equal protection rights are adequately safeguarded by the remedies available to all taxpayers--including it.

It is clear that significant benefits flow to all taxpayers of the State, be they centrally or locally assessed, when properties are appropriately valued and tax values are equalized so as to assure that each property is taxed only in proportion to its value at an equal and uniform rate. These are indirect benefits which the Appellant receives by virtue of the funding mechanism established in Utah Code Ann. §17-19-15. Appellant wishes to dismiss these indirect benefits as of no consequence in determining whether its equal protection or due process rights have been violated. The Commonwealth Edison Court spoke to that question as well. *Id.* at 628 and 629:

"Furthermore, the reference in the cases to police and fire protection and other advantages of civilized society is not, as Appellants suggest, a disingenuous incantation designed to avoid a more searching inquiry into the relationship between the value of the benefits conferred on the taxpayer and the amount of taxes it pays. Rather when the measure of the tax is reasonably related to the taxpayer's activities or presence in the State--from which it receives some benefit such as the substantial privilege of mining coal--the taxpayer will realize, in proper proportion to the taxes it pays, "(t)he only benefit to which the taxpayer is constitutionally entitled...(:) that derived from his enjoyment of the privileges of living in an organized society, established and safeguarded by the devotion of taxes to public purposes." Citing with approval Carmichael v. Southern Coal and Coke Company, 301 U.S., at 522.

In the case at bar, Appellant is taxed only upon the property it owns throughout the State at a uniform and equal rate. Those tax revenues support matters of state-wide concern such as the appropriate assessment, equalization, collection and distribution of property taxes for all taxing entities in the State, including the Uniform School Fund. The Appellant receives the benefits that collection of those tax dollars allows. It utilizes an educated work force that comes from all portions and counties of the State. It has the subtle and indirect, but no less important, benefit of living in a civilized society--a society which is supported by the property tax collection system paid for under Utah Code Ann. §17-19-15.

In summary, the funding mechanism is a tax and not a fee. Appellant is taxed only on the property it owns at a rate equal to all similar property. There need be no factual development as required in "fee" analysis. As a "taxpayer," the Appellant has forums for its concerns, be they budgetary, valuation or legislative. It receives indirect but real

benefits from the system it attacks. It has the equal protection and due process guarantees afforded it by the Constitution.

POINT V
APPELLANT LACKS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE
PROVISIONS OF THE ACT.

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